
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

 
 
SETH HARP,     ) 
      ) 
  Plaintiff,   )          
 v.     ) Civil Action No. 22-171 
      ) 
      )  
U.S. CUSTOMS AND BORDER  ) 
PROTECTION,    ) 
      ) 
  Defendant.   ) 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff Seth Harp brings this action against Defendant United States Customs and 

Border Protection to compel compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

(“FOIA”). In support thereof, Plaintiff alleges as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

2. Venue is proper in this district court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1)(C). 

PARTIES 

 3. Plaintiff Seth Harp is an investigative journalist who frequently travels 

internationally for work. Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States who was born in Austin, Texas 

and resides here still. As a representative of the news media, Plaintiff routinely requests records 

from federal agencies pursuant to FOIA, analyzes the responses, and disseminates his findings 

and the requested records to the American public to inform them about “what their government 

is up to.”  
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 4. Defendant U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“C.B.P.”) is a federal law 

enforcement agency within the U.S. Department of Homeland Security that enforces U.S. laws 

and regulations pertaining to international trade, customs, and immigration. It has numerous field 

offices, including one in the Austin-Bergstrom International Airport. C.B.P. is headquartered in 

Washington, D.C.  

 5. Defendant has possession, custody, and control of records to which Plaintiff seeks 

access. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 6. On May 13, 2019, Plaintiff was returning home from a work trip to Mexico and 

passed through customs and immigration at the Austin-Bergstrom Airport. 

 7. The C.B.P. duty officer who inspected Plaintiff’s passport and customs 

declaration was named Moncivias or Moncivais. His first name is unknown to Plaintiff. In 

addition to other, more routine questions, Officer Moncivias demanded to know the substance of 

the story that Plaintiff had gone to Mexico to report. 

 8. Plaintiff was courteous and cooperative, and gave truthful answers to Officer 

Moncivias’s questions. However, Plaintiff did not believe that he had a legal obligation to 

disclose the substantive content of his reporting, and declined to do so. 

 9. Officer Moncivias then pulled Plaintiff out of line and escorted him to the 

Homeland Security zone of the airport for “secondary screening.” 

 10. For the next four hours, Plaintiff was aggressively interrogated on all aspects of 

his work by Officer Moncivias and two other C.B.P officers, whose names were Pomeroy and 

Villareal (collectively, the “C.B.P. Officers”).  
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 11. The C.B.P. Officers interrogated Plaintiff about his travels in Mexico and the 

interviews he had conducted there. They questioned him about conversations with editors, 

colleagues, and sources. They asked about his political opinions on various topics, including his 

opinion of then-President Donald Trump. They demanded to know the identities of sources with 

whom he had worked. The officers told Plaintiff that if he did not answer the questions, he would 

not be allowed to enter the United States. 

12. None of these scattershot questions were directed at ascertaining Plaintiff’s 

citizenship status, which was not in doubt. Nor were they intended to discover a potential 

violation of law. The C.B.P. Officers did not have probable cause or a reasonable suspicion to 

believe that Plaintiff had committed a crime. Nor did they have reason to think that he had 

violated any U.S. regulation. 

 13. The C.B.P. Officers thoroughly searched Plaintiff’s luggage. They read every 

page of his 2019 journal and calendar. In addition, they spent more than three hours reviewing 

his cell phone and laptop. They opened all of his apps. They browsed his emails and reviewed 

his internet history. They went through hundreds of photographs. They read every document they 

could find. The voluminous records that the C.B.P. Officers reviewed included confidential 

correspondence with colleagues, family, and friends, as well as confidential financial statements, 

confidential business records, and private photographs. 

 14. At times, the C.B.P. Officers left the interrogation room with Plaintiff’s phone 

and laptop and were gone for long periods. On information and belief, they used technological 

equipment to copy Plaintiff’s electronic files. On information and belief, they installed tracking 

software on Plaintiff’s devices. 
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 15. For the duration of the interrogation, the C.B.P. Officers took notes. The things 

they made handwritten note of included but were not limited to technical data pertaining to 

Plaintiff’s devices, such as the 15-digit International Mobile Subscriber Identifier found in the 

settings of Plaintiff’s cellular phone.  Officer Moncivias, who was seated at a computer desk 

across from Plaintiff in the interrogation room, appeared to be preparing some kind of report, 

which he worked on for the better part of an hour. He would ask Plaintiff a question, and then 

write something on the computer. Or he would pause, carefully consult something on Plaintiff’s 

phone, and then go back to typing. 

 16. After about four hours, the C.B.P. officers returned Plaintiff’s luggage, laptop, 

and phone, and informed him that he was free to go. 

 17. Plaintiff subsequently wrote a story for The Intercept about the experience, and 

called a C.B.P. spokeswoman seeking an official comment. During this conversation, the 

spokeswoman mentioned that the “port director” had “reviewed the tape” of the encounter, 

which Plaintiff found notable because the C.B.P. Officers had specifically told him, during the 

interrogation, that he was not being recorded. 

 18. On January 18, 2022, Plaintiff submitted a request under the Freedom of 

Information Act for all records related to himself that were in C.B.P.’s custody, and in particular, 

for the report that he had seen Officer Moncivias writing. 

 19. Plaintiff made this request through Defendant C.B.P.’s officially designated 

online portal for FOIA requests. The request was automatically assigned the tracking number 

CBP-2022-033743. 

20. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), the Defendant was required to determine 

whether to comply with Plaintiff’s FOIA request within twenty (20) working days of receipt of 
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the request, and to notify Plaintiff immediately of its determination, the reasons therefor, and his 

right to appeal any adverse determination. 

21. The Defendant’s determination regarding Plaintiff’s FOIA request was due by 

February 24, 2022 at the latest. 

22. On February 25, 2022, Plaintiff tracked his request on Defendant C.B.P.’s website 

and found that the disposition remained “undetermined.” 

23. As of the date of this complaint, the Defendant has failed to: (1) determine 

whether to comply with Plaintiff’s FOIA requests; (ii) notify Plaintiff of any such determination 

and the reasons therefor; (iii) advise Plaintiff of his right to appeal any adverse determination; or 

(iv) produce the requested records or otherwise demonstrate that the requested records are 

exempt from production. 

24. Because the Defendant has failed to comply with the time limit set forth in 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), Plaintiff is deemed to have exhausted any and all administrative 

remedies pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C). 

COUNT 1 

(Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B): unlawful withholding of agency records) 

 25. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 24 as if fully stated herein. 

 26. The Defendant is unlawfully withholding records requested by Plaintiff pursuant 

to 5 U.S.C. § 552. 

 27. Plaintiff is being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s unlawful 

withholding of records responsive to Plaintiff’s FOIA requests, and Plaintiff will continue to be 

irreparably harmed unless the Defendant is compelled to conform its conduct to the requirements 

of the law. 
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COUNT 2 

(Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i): failure to respond in statutory time period) 

 28. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 27 as if fully stated herein.  

 29. The Defendant has failed to respond to Plaintiff’s FOIA request within the 

statutory time period specified at 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i). 

30. Plaintiff is being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s unlawful failure to 

respond in a timely manner, and Plaintiff will continue to be irreparably harmed unless the 

Defendant is compelled to conform its conduct to the requirements of the law. 

 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court: (1) order the Defendant to 

conduct searches for any and all records responsive to Plaintiff’s FOIA request and demonstrate 

that it employed search methods reasonably likely to lead to the discover of records responsive to 

Plaintiff’s FOIA request; (2) order the Defendant to produce, by a certain date, any and all non-

exempt records responsive to Plaintiff’s FOIA request and a Vaughn index of any responsive 

records withheld under claim of exemption; (3) enjoin Defendant from continuing to withhold 

any and all non-exempt records responsive to Plaintiff’s FOIA requests; (4) grant Plaintiff an 

award of attorneys’ fees and other litigation costs reasonably incurred in this action pursuant to 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E), and (5) grant Plaintiff such other relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 
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Dated:  February 25, 2022    Respectfully submitted, 

 

        ______________________ 
        Seth Harp 
        Texas Bar No. 24080930 
        416 Kemp Street 
        Austin, Texas 78741  
 
        Plaintiff and Attorney at Law 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I, Seth Harp, the Plaintiff in this case and an attorney admitted to practice in this Court, certify 

that on the 25th day of February, 2022, I caused to be mailed to the Attorney for U.S. Customs 

and Border Patrol a copy of this Complaint by certified U.S. Mail at the following addresses: 

 

Office of Chief Counsel 
US Customs and Border Protection 
1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 4.4-B 
Washington, DC 20229 
 
Mr. Merrick Garland 
Attorney General of the United States 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530-0001 
 
Ms. Stephanie Rico 
Civil Process Clerk 
Office of the U.S. Attorney for the Western District of Texas 
601 NW Loop 410, Suite 600 
San Antonio, Texas 78216-5597 
 
 
Dated: February 25, 2022      ___________________ 
         Seth Harp 
         Plaintiff and Attorney at Law 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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